ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Sumter County

MAR 16 2017

Honorable William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JEFFREY DANA ANDREWS

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-001679  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Sumter County

Honorable William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court abused its discretion in denying appellant immunity where appellant had ordered the decedent to leave his home, the decedent attempted to reenter the house without permission, and forcefully, as in State v. Duncan, and appellant shot him, since appellant was lawfully repelling an aggressor in his own home, he was acting lawfully, he was in fear of great bodily harm, and the judge erroneously abdicated his responsibility to make credibility determinations as a trier of fact to the jury?

2.

Whether the court abused its discretion by refusing to recognize Investigator Terry Gainey as an expert in interrogation and force science to explain how immediately interrogating someone after a shooting can lead to fragmented description of what occurred, since Gainey was qualified by experience and training to be an expert, his testimony on this subject was needed, particularly where the court used the lack of expert testimony on this issue to determine appellant had not proved he was entitled to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence?

3.

Whether the court erred by allowing an EMS paramedic to testify appellant was shot on the porch where the witness was not an expert in crime scene reconstruction, and this opinion was highly prejudicial given the disputed evidence of what the decedent was doing and exactly where he was when he was shot?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Sumter County Grand Jury for the crimes of murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 620. His case was called to trial on July 20, 2015 before the Honorable W. Jeffrey Young, and a jury. Elaine Cooke represented appellant. John Meadors and Scott Matthews were the assistant solicitors. R. 1. After an immunity hearing, the judge ruled appellant was not entitled to immunity under the Castle Doctrine or the Stand Your Ground subsections of the statute.

The jury trial then began. On July 24, 2015 the jury found appellant guilty on both counts. R. 601, ll. 2-11. Judge Young sentenced appellant to thirty-year concurrent prison terms. R. 617, l. 21 – 619, l. 4. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The court abused its discretion in denying appellant immunity where appellant had ordered the decedent to leave his home, the decedent attempted to reenter the house without permission, and forcefully, as in State v. Duncan, and appellant shot him, since appellant was lawfully repelling an aggressor in his own home, he was acting lawfully, he was in fear of great bodily harm, and the judge erroneously abdicated his responsibility to make credibility determinations as a trier of fact to the jury.

### **Relevant Facts**

Defense Counsel Cooke made a motion to find appellant immune from prosecution pursuant to South Carolina Code § 16-11-440 (a) & (c). She also specifically cited South Carolina Code § 16-11-440(c) and South Carolina Code § 16-11-450 on the common law provisions of self-defense and the defense of habitation., R. 2, ll. 8-14.

John Thomas Davis was a private investigator hired by the defense. He took photographs of the home where appellant lived. Appellant had told the police the decedent had come back into the home without permission after being told to leave because of his behavior. As will be seen infra, defense counsel would argue the facts of this case were very similar to those in State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011) where the Supreme Court held Duncan was entitled to immunity.

Davis testified that the latch on the door to the home was broken. Davis told the solicitor that Robert Andrews, appellant's father, informed him that the latch was broken on the day of the fatal encounter between the decedent and appellant. The latch on the door was not broken prior to that incident. R. 17, l. 20 – 18, l. 12.

Pathologist Dr. Janis Edwards Ross testified that the decedent was six feet tall and weighed about 180 lbs. He was 26 years old. He had a blood-alcohol content of .123, and had marijuana in his system when he was killed by a single gunshot. As will be seen infra, appellant was a much older, and smaller man. R. 32, l. 18 – 34, l. 25.

Dr. Ross testified that it was possible that the decedent could have seen a gun, stepped backwards, and fell backwards when he was shot in the head. R. 35, ll. 8-13. The decedent was shot just outside of his right eyebrow from two feet or more feet away. R. 36, ll. 2-19. The gunshot wound was consistent with a small caliber gun such as a .22. Dr. Ross opined that the gunshot wound would have caused “unconsciousness pretty immediately but death would take several minutes.”<sup>1</sup> R. 37, ll. 6-22.

Appellant testified during the immunity hearing that he lived at 12 Murphy Street in Sumter, the site of the fatal incident. He lived there with his wife and his father, Robert Andrews. R. 59, l. 12 – 60, l. 25. Appellant offered his driver’s license with the 12 Murphy Street address to prove that is where he lived. His father would also verify that fact. R. 60, ll. 21-25.

On the date of the incident appellant invited his cousin Virlyn over for a drink. They had a fifth of brandy. Appellant was celebrating because he had enrolled in school, “got some money back. And my wife and I were going to actually buy 1.5 acres of land. So we had some money, just kind of having fun and celebrating.” R. 61, ll. 1-20.

---

<sup>1</sup> The GSR testimony during the immunity hearing -- while necessary to paint a full picture for the trial court -- was largely irrelevant since appellant admitted he shot the decedent, but strongly asserted that he did so in self-defense. State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011)

Appellant's father eventually wanted to get something to eat so appellant recalled they took the bottle of brandy, and put on the recliner on the back porch when they left. "That back porch is also used as a laundry room." R. 61, l. 1 – 62, l. 3.

Appellant said when they returned he noticed that the washer and dryer were on. There were only three other people who used the washer and dryer. They were their friends Shamar (the decedent), Erika Andrews (the decedent's girlfriend) and Jenny Bell (a good friend). R. 62, ll. 4-20. Erika Andrews was also appellant's cousin "but I call her my niece, because her dad and I grew up as brothers, more or less, you know." R. 62, ll. 16-20. Again, Erika Andrews was Shamar's girlfriend. R. 62, ll. 21-23.

Appellant called Jenny Bell on the telephone, but Bell said she was the person using their washer and the dryer at the time. Appellant then noticed Shamar's "sneakers on top of the dryer. And his clothes, him and Erika's clothes in the dryer." R. 62, l. 24 – 63, l. 10.

Appellant also noticed that the bottle of brandy was missing. Appellant and Virlyn walked down to the nearby trailer where Shamar and Erika lived. They were renting that trailer from appellant's father, Robert Andrews. R. 63, ll. 1-16.

Appellant knocked on the door "and asked Shamar and Erika did you all come by and . . . take the jug [of Brandy] off the porch, you know." Appellant recalled that they both acted as if they did not know what he was talking about. "And I just chalked it as the kids just being mischievous, you know . . . Virlyn and I left . . ." R. 63, l. 11 – 64, l. 8. Shamar and Erika were "quite younger than I am." Appellant said he brushed the loss off, and "I went to the bootlegger's house. Me and Virlyn went to the bootlegger's house, and got some more liquor, because the liquor store was closed." Appellant said they had also purchased some more beer to

drink along with the liquor. Once they were back at appellant's house he remembered that Erika came over about 15-20 minutes later. R. 64, l. 5 – 65, l. 7.

Appellant remembered the mood at that time was light-hearted. Shamar showed up at some point, and Shamar and Erika left after a while. R. 65, l. 3 – 69, l. 9.

Erika and Shamar came back to appellant's house a little later. Appellant remembered that Erika "started drinking real good. Shamar showed back up at the house. Again he wanted to stand up [rather than sit down], and he had what appeared to be a 40-ounce bottle in his hand." R. 69, ll. 2-18. This was apparently a 40-ounce bottle of beer.

Appellant recalled that as they were all drinking appellant and his father started making lighthearted remarks about the bottle of brandy having disappeared. R. 69, l. 25 – 70, l. 18. Appellant said Shamar at some point apparently thought they were being sarcastic, and Shamar said: "You all motherfuckers talking about me?" R. 70, ll. 19-23. Appellant told Shamar "Don't talk like that in front of daddy. What's going on?" Appellant testified that Shamar responded that appellant was calling him a liar, and "we're going to have to go outside. I'm going to take you outside. I said, slow down Shamar." R. 71, ll. 1-16.

However, as Shamar continued, Appellant finally said: "You damn right. In fact, Shamar, in fact we are talking about you. We think you took the liquor. We think you took the liquor. *Now it's time for you to go. You need to leave now.*" Appellant told Shamar: "Go around the house and **get your clothes and go home**. And we'll talk about this another time. But that didn't work out. And then everything just started." R. 71, ll. 1-16. (emphasis added).

Appellant remembered that Shamar was very angry at this point, and Erika supported Shamar in his "right" to be angry. Sizing up the situation, Appellant's father, Robert, then told Erika that she also needed to go home with Shamar. R. 71, l. 1 – 72, l. 17. However, Shamar

continued to curse at appellant. Shamar refused to leave and “Shamar actually told me he would fuck me up, because he was ready to fight me.” R. 73, l. 8 – 75, l. 10.

Appellant remembered that Shamar “appeared to be walking down the steps. I went back in.” Appellant also told Erika “it was time to go.” He grabbed Erika by her arm. Appellant remembered Shamar came “*back in the house*. Everybody is raising hell right now.” Appellant remembered he got hit in the face at that time. R. 75, l. 1 – 76, l. 15. (emphasis added). Appellant specifically recalled that Shamar’s face hit him during the altercation. Once Shamar was back outside again he began threatening appellant and cursing at him: “I’ll beat your punk ass. Motherfucker. You know, bad words. In my life, I’ve seen him act like this before. M.F. this. I’ll kick your punk ass, this and that. He got the bottle again . . . like he’s going to hit me with the bottle.” Appellant testified he again told Shamar to go home. Shamar warned or promised: “I’ll be back.” Appellant went into the house, and “*I locked the screen door*. Shamar did not come . . . .Shamar was outside on the porch . . . . *I locked the screen door, and I closed the big door. ... I closed the big door*. And I went . . . . scrambling for the telephone in my dad’s room.” Appellant planned to call the police at this point. R. 76, l. 2 – 77, l. 24.

While appellant was looking for the phone he noticed “Erika walking towards this door right here . . . . now I hear the commotion outside, but I don’t know, and I can’t say Shamar opened that door. I can’t say that ... and I know, I believe she [Erika] opened that door... the big door.” R. 79, ll. 1-21. Appellant was still looking for the phone when he heard Shamar taunting: “Jeffrey won’t come out here because he knows I’ll beat his ass. *And he snatched the door open. And the weapon was right here on this dresser, on the dresser drawer right by the T.V.... when he snatched that door open to come in* I thought Shamar was coming in there - - I thought Shamar was coming in there to hurt me, hurt us.” R. 79, l. 8 – 80, l. 2. Appellant also recalled:

*“When he snatched that door open, I was in fear of my life. But I was also in fear of my life when he came approaching me, when . . . he’s advancing toward me with a bottle in his hand.”* Appellant said he feared Shamar because: *“He snatched the door open. He wouldn’t leave. He was combative. He wanted to argue. He wanted to fight.”* R. 82, l. 14 – 84, l. 1. (emphasis added).

The following occurred on direct-examination of appellant:

Q. And where were you at this point **when he snatched the door open and is coming in?**

A. **When he was snatched the door open, I shot Shamar. I brandished that weapon. I picked that weapon up from by the TV, by the dresser drawer. By the TV right here.**

Q. And you are pointing to?

A. Exhibit No. 6 again.

Q. Defendant’s Exhibit No. 6. And where did you get the gun from, I’m sorry?

A. The weapon was by the TV right here on this dresser. On this dresser drawer right here. Right there.

Q. And what did you do?

A. *I grabbed the weapon. I brandished it, and I shot Shamar.*

Q. *Why did you shoot him?*

A. *Because he was entering the house, and I didn’t know what he was going to do. I was in fear of my life.*

Q. *When the police arrived, what did you tell them?*

A. So many police was talking to me. I mean they had a bunch of them talking to me.

R. 83, l. 25 – 84, l. 23. (emphasis added).

Appellant said he touched Shamar to see if he had a pulse “because I was going to attempt to put CPR on him.” R. 85, ll. 3-9. Appellant also recalled that Corporal Kelly came into the house, and asked: “Who is Jeffrey, and who shot?” Appellant readily admitted to the police that he shot the decedent. R. 85, l. 15 – 87, l. 17. Appellant also remembered at this time Erika was outside screaming: “Jeffrey shot him in the head.” R. 87, l. 24 – 88, l. 12.

On cross-examination, appellant told the solicitor he did not remember telling the police that “you shot him over liquor.” As will be seen infra, that would be the solicitor’s theme. That although it was undisputed appellant told the police he shot Shamar in self-defense because he was afraid, the solicitor would attempt to recast the issue as an argument over stolen liquor from appellant’s house. R. 88, l. 25 – 110, l. 4.

Appellant testified that he had never shot a person before, and he was overwhelmed after the shooting. He had “a lot of different mixed emotions. Anxious, nervous, scared. All of the above.” R. 110, l. 20 – 112, l. 14.

Appellant said once he was at the police station that he requested a lawyer. He told the police: “I need to talk about this in the morning. My mind is all mixed up.” This is relevant to issue two, infra. R. 112, l. 8 – 113, l. 8.

Appellant also recalled that Shamar had a reputation around the neighborhood, and that he was unsure what Shamar had in his hand at the time of the fatal altercation. “That’s the thing, *I didn’t know what Shamar had in his hand. Did he have a bottle. You know, I know a little bit about him. But I didn’t know if he had a bottle. I didn’t know what he was going to do.*” R. 113,

l. 2 – 115, l. 1. (emphasis added). Appellant repeated that he felt overwhelmed at the time, and that he did not want to talk to anyone. R. 114, l. 13 – 115, l. 12. Appellant remembered he told Investigator Dubose that he was also protecting his father against Shamar. R. 115, ll. 19-21.

### **The need for expert testimony**

The defense next called Terry Gainey. Gainey was a former police officer who was currently a private investigator. R. 116, l. 12- 117, l. 7. Gainey was also “a death investigator for the Darlington County Coroner’s Office.” He was the deputy coroner. R. 116, l. 22 – 117, l. 7.

Gainey confirmed that he was retained by the defense because he was certified through the Science Institute on various issues concerning police officers who were involved in shootings. The timeline and “when you should do interviews.” Gainey had attended a forty-hour class “consisting of bookwork and a lot of footwork there in a lab kind of environment.” That class was in November of 2014 at the Science Institute. R. 118, ll. 9-16.

The defense obviously maintained that the rules for when police officers should be interviewed after a shooting were also applicable to civilians such as appellant. Gainey testified that police officers should not be interviewed regarding shooting until forty eight hours “or two good sleep cycles before you gave an interview.” R. 118, ll. 1-21.

Gainey explained that “your mind just simply doesn’t rest. *It’s a type of event that causes memory fragmentation.* And after a couple of sleep cycles you’re usually able to consolidate your memories. *And it’s a little more of an event that you can somewhat remember more clearly.*” R. 118, l. 22 – 119, l. 3. (emphasis added).

Gainey testified that a person interviewed an hour and thirteen minutes after they shot someone would “**be completely fragmented. There would be things that make absolutely no**

**sense to them.** Some things they'll recall seemingly clearly. Some things they will have holes. They won't know exactly why they have holes. They'll have intrusive thoughts. They'll have things that just simply makes no sense whatsoever." R. 118, l. 17 – 120, l. 1. (emphasis added).

*Gainey said that someone would "absolutely not" be able to "tell events in chronological order" if interviewed shortly after the incident. Gainey explained:*

The mind itself, most people tend to think of it working in forms of a video camera. With an event starting at one end and ending in another. **When in reality, your memory tends to work as a still shot camera. It'll take a snap here and a snap here and a snap here, and snap throughout the entire event. So when you begin to try to recall what that event is, you may very well put those photographs in your mind in a different order.** Then just simply *you're not able to follow that chronological order at that moment until you've had that little bit of decompression time. You have an adrenaline issue. You have fear and anxiety. You have a lot of things going on in your own mind that are going to cause major, major problems for you to recall.*

R. 120, ll. 6-21. (emphasis added).

When Gainey went to explain gaps in a person's memory if interviewed too quickly, the solicitor asked if Gainey was going to be qualified as an expert. R. 120, l. 22- 121, l. 6.

Gainey then explained he had specialized training from the Force Science Institute that was "officially developed in 2004." Gainey told the judge that this institute "researched law enforcement related shootings to find out what is the general consensus of things that happen from a physiological standpoint what happens to the human body . . . . It's based on sport science. It's based on accident reconstruction. It's based on research throughout many, many years through a lot of areas of graduate level classes . . . . There's hundreds of different examples of where this type of science has been applied." R. 121, l. 9 – 122, l. 25.

The solicitor then did *voir dire* on Gainey. Gainey said he was an expert in the field of “Force Science on the use of force within law enforcement.” R. 123, ll. 10-14. Gainey acknowledged that one aspect of Force Science was interviewing, and different techniques in interrogation. R. 123, l. 18 – 124, l. 6. Gainey testified the class he attended on this specialized subject was a week-long class. Gainey said that although the specialty involved police officer involved shooting, the expertise was broader than that. “You’re dealing with the trauma of shooting as a whole.” R. 124, l. 13 – 125, l. 24. Gainey acknowledged this was the first time he was being qualified as an expert in a courtroom. R. 124, ll. 13 -18.

The solicitor objected to Gainey being qualified as an expert. The judge noted that Gainey had a one-week course, and twenty years of experience as a police officer. The judge said he wanted to know about Gainey’s college and post-graduate work. The judge observed: “It’s almost like I stayed in the Holiday Inn Express last night. And so therefore, I mean one week, are you kidding me? I mean is that correct? . . . No way. He can step down. He’s not an expert in this courtroom. He’ll have to wait until next time to be an expert.” R. 126, ll. 2-16.

When the judge was getting ready to rule whether appellant was entitled to immunity -- the subject of inconsistencies in some testimony was discussed. Defense Counsel Cooke explained that Erika had more inconsistent statements than could be attributed to appellant. Further, appellant’s testimony was corroborated by his father. Counsel began to explain that **appellant was not telling different versions of what occurred. “I believe his was more of a fragmented telling different pieces in time than telling different stories.”** The judge interrupted, and he told defense counsel that was her belief, *and that there was no evidence of that since “your expert was hardly an expert.”* R. 200, l. 21 – 202, l. 9. (emphasis added).

Robert Andrews had also been a defense witness at the immunity hearing. Robert was appellant's father. He had lived at 12 Murphy Street for the last fifty-five years. R. 127, l. 6 – 128, l. 2. Robert remembered on the day of the fatal incident he was at home with appellant, Virlyn Gardner, Erika and Shamar. R. 127, l. 13 – 128, l. 5.

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