**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

MAR 24 2017

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

SC Court of Appeals

W. Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001679

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY DANA ANDREWS,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

RANEE SAUNDERS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III  
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 836  
Sumter, SC 29150-0836  
(803) 436-2185

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

## ARGUMENTS

### I.

**The trial court properly denied Appellant's request for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act because evidence was presented indicating Appellant brought about the difficulty and the victim was leaving the premises when he was shot.**

Appellant contends the trial court abdicated its duty as fact finder in denying the motion for immunity. He accordingly asks this Court to issue an order granting him immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Appellant misapprehends both the trial court's ruling and the role of this appellate court in its review function.

"A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review." *State v. Jones*, 416 S.C. 283, 290, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." *Id.* The Court will "not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence." *State v. Mitchell*, 382 S.C. 1, 4, 675 S.E.2d 435, 437 (2009).

"Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant's entitlement to the Act's immunity." *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 371, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). This includes all elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat. *Id.* To establish a case of self-defense, the defendant must first establish he is:

without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in

such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

*State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307, 318, 768 S.E.2d 232, 238–39 (Ct. App. 2014).

Appellant claims the trial court committed an error of law by failing to act as a fact finder in stating that the conflicting testimony created a jury question. However, Appellant confuses the nature of the trial court's inquiry as well of the import of its conclusion that Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof. Determining whether the evidence preponderates in favor of immunity requires the trial court to balance the weight of the evidence; if the scales tip in favor of immunity, it will be granted. Here, the trial court concluded the conflicting evidence set the balance either level or possibly tipped in favor of the State—thus holding Appellant failed to meet his burden. The trial court therefore appropriately left to the jury's discretion the ultimate question of whether the weight of the evidence disproved self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. Further, far from ignoring its responsibility, the trial court also expressly mentioned its duty to consider credibility, explaining to defense counsel that its inquiry was not about counting the number of witnesses offered, but rather “listen[ing] to the testimony, [a]nd mak[ing] it more on credibility.” (R.201.) Moreover, this conclusion—that the presence of conflicting testimony may be better addressed by the jury—is consistent with our jurisprudence. *See State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 372, 752 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2013) (upholding trial court's denial of immunity where there was conflicting testimony and noting “Appellant's claim of self-defense presents a

quintessential jury question, which, most assuredly, is not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution”).

Appellant additionally requests the Court reweigh the evidence on its own accord and grant him immunity from prosecution in complete disregard of this Court’s standard of review. Even assuming arguendo the trial court failed to weigh the evidence, Appellant’s request that this Court usurp that discretion and grant immunity is improper. An abuse of discretion for failing to find facts would be a ground to reverse and remand, not an invitation for an appellate court to step in as a fact finder. Therefore, the sole remedy would be to remand and afford the trial court the opportunity to make those credibility determinations. Thus, Appellant’s lengthy iteration of his version of the facts ignores the actual legal question involved—whether there is *any* evidence supporting the trial court’s denial of immunity. Appellant’s discussion fails to acknowledge that Erika’s testimony presents an entirely different story indicating not only that Appellant brought about the struggle, but also that he shot Shamar after the altercation ended and Shamar left the house. That Appellant deems this testimony uncorroborated and therefore suspect is immaterial. The trial court properly considered all the evidence as it was offered and concluded Appellant failed to meet his burden. The evidence supports this conclusion. Accordingly, this Court should affirm that decision.

## II.

### **The trial court properly declined to qualify Terry Gainey as an expert based on his lack of experience and training.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in refusing to qualify Gainey as an expert in interrogation and force science, arguing he possessed the requisite training and experience and his testimony was relevant. However, there was no abuse of discretion and further Appellant elicited his desired testimony before the court. The court simply chose not to give that evidence weight in exercising its function as fact finder.

Pursuant to Rule 702 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” “Expert testimony is not admissible unless it satisfies all three requirements with respect to subject matter, expert qualifications, and reliability.” *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). “Thus, only after the trial court has found that expert testimony is necessary to assist the jury in resolving factual questions, the expert is qualified in the particular area, and the testimony is reliable, may the trial court admit the evidence and permit the jury to assign it such weight as it deems appropriate.” *Id.* at 446–47, 699 S.E.2d at 175. “Whether a witness has qualified as an expert, and whether his opinion is admissible on a fact in issue, are matters resting largely in the discretion of the trial [court].” *Prince v. Associated Petroleum Carriers*, 262 S.C. 358, 365, 204 S.E.2d 575, 579 (1974) (per curiam).

In alleging Gainey possessed the requisite training and experience to be qualified as an expert in interrogation and force science, Appellant points to his twenty years in law enforcement and his attendance of a forty-hour seminar focused on shootings involving law

enforcement. However, Gainey admitted his seminar, which only dedicated one day to cognitive interviewing, did not address situations involving non-officers.<sup>4</sup> (Tr.126.) Further, he did not present other relevant collegiate or post-graduate studies, nor had he ever testified as an expert previously. While often the defects in a witness's qualifications should be left to the jury to consider, the trial court retains the duty to make the threshold determination on the admissibility of the evidence. *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 274, 676 S.E.2d 684, 689 (2009) (“The familiar evidentiary mantra that a challenge to evidence goes to ‘weight, not admissibility’ may be invoked only after the trial court has vetted the matters of qualifications and reliability and admitted the evidence.”). As gatekeeper, the trial court must do more than simply hold the door open as suggested by Appellant. Accordingly, based on this dearth of relevant experience, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to qualify Gainey as an expert.<sup>5</sup>

Further, Appellant suffered no prejudice because he was allowed to elicit the testimony he now complains about not being able to expound. Gainey testified that when interviewing an officer after a shooting, the “golden rule” is to allow “[forty-eight] hours or two good sleep cycles before [initiating the interview].” (R.118.) He further claimed this wait time was

---

<sup>4</sup> Nevertheless, Appellant posits “it would appear common sense that since police officers know the possibility of having to shoot someone was a real danger . . . research of this ‘fragmented memory’ reporting [is] equally if not more applicable to [civilians].” (Appellant’s Br.23.) However, if this were so, it seems that the training would not be specifically tailored to law enforcement incidents but would represent broader training on how officers should also approach interviews with any suspects. Nothing in his testimony indicated that in his work as a police officer he waited forty-eight hours prior to obtaining a statement from the suspect in a shooting.

<sup>5</sup> Although the trial court did not need to address the reliability of the science given its proper conclusion that Gainey did not have the experience or training required to be qualified as an expert, there was no evidence adduced tending to corroborate the validity of these studies. The basis of Gainey’s knowledge on fragmentation was confined to his studies at a seminar hosted by a single company, the Force Science Institute. There was no evidence presented as to the reliability of that research and whether it had been corroborated by other organizations. In fact, it is not an organization without staunch criticism. See Matt Apuzo, *Training Officers to Shoot First, and He Will Answer Questions Later*, N.Y. Times, Aug. 1, 2015.

necessary: “[b]ecause of the mind[, which] simply doesn’t rest.” (R.119.) Gainey stated “[a shooting is] a type of event that causes memory fragmentation[ a]nd after a couple of sleep cycles you’re usually able to consolidate your memories.” (R.119.) Additionally, he opined that if a person was interviewed thirteen minutes after a shooting, “[his] memory would be completely fragmented” and that person would not be “able to follow that chronological order at that moment [until he has] had that little bit of decompression time.” (R.119–120.) Accordingly, even if this Court were to find error, no reason exists to remand the case for another immunity hearing, as requested by Appellant. The trial court was well-apprised of the substance of Gainey’s testimony and apparently gave it little weight in exercising its discretion to deny immunity.

Based on the foregoing, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in choosing not to qualify Gainey as an expert. Moreover, the trial court actually heard the testimony Appellant seeks to admit and nevertheless refused to grant immunity; therefore, any error was not reversible.

### III.

**The trial court properly allowed Kimberly Graham to testify that the victim was on the porch when he was shot because it merely echoed her previous unobjected-to statements. Appellant never contended the victim was anywhere other than the porch when shot, therefore Appellant suffered no prejudice from the alleged error.**

At trial, Graham, the paramedic who arrived on the scene, testified about the crime scene as a witness for both the State and Appellant. She was qualified without objection as an expert in the field of emergency medical services. (R.249.) In discussing the night of the incident, she stated that when she arrived, Erika was on the front porch screaming over Shamar's body. (R.252.) When allowed to examine him, Graham observed Shamar was on his back with a gunshot wound above his right eye. (R.253.) She further explained his head was mushy and his pupils were nonreactive, which could be attributed to the bullet or his head striking the concrete. (R.255.) She stated that based on her observation of the body and the wound, Shamar was standing on the porch when he was shot. (R.255.) Appellant objected, stating Graham was not an expert in crime scene reconstruction. The trial court overruled the objection, noting that given the substance of her unobjected-to testimony, Graham could state he dropped right there. (R.255.)

Appellant now argues this was reversible error because Graham was not qualified to opine on crime scene reconstruction; therefore, he was prejudiced because "[h]er opinion that the decedent was outside on the porch when he was shot was at minimum [] going to be confusing to the jury." (Appellant's Br.29.) Appellant bases this conclusion on his claim that "[w]here decedent fell, where his head was, were all ripe to be taken out of context to the jury." (Appellant's Br.29.)

It is questionable how this conclusion would not be within the ken of a reasonable juror. Where a man is found on a porch on his back after being shot and no one has indicated he was anywhere different, deducing that the victim was on the porch at the time of the shooting does not require specialized knowledge. It is the logical next step of the facts in evidence. This scenario is therefore inapposite to the facts of the case relied on by Appellant, *State v. Ellis*, 345 S.C. 175, 547 S.E.2d 490 (2001). In *Ellis*, the defendant alleged the victim was off his bicycle and advancing toward him with a knife when the defendant shot the victim in self-defense. *Id.* at 177, 547 S.E.2d at 491. However, the State's expert in crime scene processing opined the victim was still astride his bicycle when he was shot, which the defendant objected to because the expert was not qualified in crime scene reconstruction. *Id.* The Supreme Court found it was error to admit the testimony as it went to the ultimate question of whether the defendant acted in self-defense and was inconsistent with the defendant's recount of the events. *Id.* at 178, 547 S.E.2d at 491.

Here, however, all testimony indicates Shamar was on the porch. It is unclear how Appellant can complain where his own testimony indicates that when he fired the gun, Shamar "was entering the house." (R.476.) He never states Shamar "entered" the house; instead, he clarifies that prior to killing him, Shamar was outside. (R.474.) Necessarily, if he was not inside the house—and no one claims he was—he must have been on the porch. Although Appellant argues the testimony would be "confusing to the jury" it is hard to fathom what other conclusion the jury could draw. Of course, this testimony could create the inference he had left and the threat was ended, or it could invite the jury to conclude that Shamar was in the act of attempting to unlawfully enter the home and Appellant killed him before he could cross the threshold. Certainly, all the facts, including "[w]here [Shamar] fell[ and] where his head was" were all determinations for the jury; however, Appellant himself offered the testimony of Graham for the

purpose of indicating to the jury where Shamar's head was and how his body was oriented upon her arrival on the scene. Moreover, her testimony that Shamar was on the porch when shot is cumulative to the pathologist's testimony that given the nature of his injury, he would have "collapse[d]," which can only be interpreted as meaning he fell where he stood. (R.318.) Accordingly, there was nothing improper in Graham's testimony, and to the extent she went beyond the scope of her expertise, Appellant suffered no prejudice.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.